

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE EUROPEAN HIP SOCIETY

Version 9-9-2018

§ 1 NAME, REGISTERED OFFICE

- a. The Association shall be called *European Hip Society (EHS)*.
- b. The Society is registered as a European association with the local authority responsible for associations, the Regional Police Headquarters of Tyrol in Innsbruck, Austria (SVA 3 - Vereine, Landespolizeidirektion Tirol) and filed under the number 313285504 (ZVR-Zahl). The seat of the society is in Innsbruck.
The Association's activities shall extend over the whole of Europe.

§ 2 AIMS OF THE ASSOCIATION, NON-PROFIT STATUS

- a. The object of the Association shall be to provide a forum for the discussion of research, advances in clinical practice and the results of all types of treatment relating to the hip joint, with a focus on the surgical procedures.
- b. The Association and its aims shall exclusively and directly uphold public interest according to the provisions of the Austrian tax regulations (non-profit status).
- c. First and foremost, the Association shall pursue scientific goals. It shall not primarily pursue economic purposes of its own and shall abstain from political activity.
- d. No person may be favored by payments which are contrary to the purpose of the Association.
- e. If the Association dissolves or if the non-profit status is lost, the capital of the Society shall be transferred to a non-profit organization to promote the objects in accordance with Rule 2b.

§ 3 MEANS TO ACCOMPLISH THE PURPOSE OF THE ASSOCIATION

- a. Non-material means:
 - i Scientific lectures
 - ii Scientific sessions and meetings
 - iii International contacts and communication
 - iv Co-ordination of studies
 - v Dissemination of information on education and advanced training via the Internet
 - vi Allocation of scholarships and fellowships
 - vii Publication editing
- b. Financial means raised through:
 - i Subscriptions
 - ii Organization of a Europe-wide EHS Congress taking place at least every two years
 - iii Organization of symposia and congresses in co-operation with other scientific societies
 - iv Donations, legacies, or other support
 - v Gain from the Society's property
 - vi Public funds
 - vii Administration of assets (e.g. interest, other income upon investments, etc.)

§ 4 MEMBERSHIP

- a. The total membership of the Association shall not be restricted.
- b. Full Membership should be open to any orthopaedic surgeon or other medical doctor with an interest in hip problems practicing in Europe (including states which at least partially share European territory).
- c. The membership of the Association shall be divided into six classes:
 - i. Full Members: any person who fulfils the membership criteria and who has been elected in accordance with Rule 4d hereof or any person who in the judgement of the Executive Committee merits admission as a Member; Full Members shall pay an annual subscription fee. They shall have full voting rights at the General Assembly. Full members will have access to the Society's Journal for a reduced fee (this can be 0 Euro, but also other amounts), choosing to receive either the printed version with electronic access, or electronic access only, depending on their choice of dues.
 - ii. International Members: any person coming from outside Europe who fulfils all other membership criteria and who has been elected in accordance with Rule 4d hereof, or any person who in the judgement of the Executive Committee merits admission as a Member; International Members shall pay an annual subscription fee. They shall receive a free subscription of the Society's journal - choosing to receive either the printed version with electronic access, or electronic access only, depending on their choice of dues - but they shall have no voting rights.
 - iii. Young Members: orthopaedic surgeons who are not yet fully qualified can be elected as Young Members. They shall have the possibility to present a paper during the meetings of the Society. Their membership shall be a reduced-rate. They shall receive access to the electronic issue of the Society's journal and shall have no voting rights.
 - iv. Emeritus Members: any member who has retired from medical practice and who has given notice to the Executive Committee of his wish to remain a member of the Association; Emeritus Members shall be released from their obligation to subscription payment. They shall have free access to the electronic issue of the Society's journal, but they shall not have the right to vote.
 - v. Honorary Members: any person who in the opinion of the Executive Committee has made a special contribution to hip surgery and who has accepted the invitation of the Committee to become a member of the Association. Honorary Members may also come from outside Europe. They shall have free access to the electronic issue of the Society's journal, but shall not be entitled to vote.
 - vi. Companion Members: non-orthopaedic surgeons could be elected as Companion Members, according to the Executive Committee's advice and after presentation of a communication at a meeting, supported by two Full Members of the Society. Companion Members shall pay an annual subscription fee. They shall have no voting rights, but they shall receive a free subscription of the Society's journal, choosing to receive either the printed version with electronic access, or electronic access only, depending on their choice of dues.
- d. Any person who wishes to become a Member must be proposed by one Full Member and seconded by another, be approved by their country's National Representative, and must submit a curriculum vitae together with an application in writing signed by himself and the proposer and seconder to the Secretary General. Election to Membership shall

be upon recommendation by the Executive Committee (following approval by the National Representative and scrutiny of the two sponsorships and the curriculum vitae) or acceptance of an application for membership and approval of the application by a majority of Full Members attending at a General Assembly.

§ 5 RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF THE MEMBERS

- a. All members are entitled to participate in the Society's events and shall have access to all membership benefits.
- b. Full Members only have a vote at General Assemblies, have active and passive voting rights, and are entitled to vote on any application for membership in accordance with Rule 4d hereof. Young Members, International Members, Emeritus Members, Honorary Members, as well as Companion Members, are not entitled to vote on any business at General Assemblies.
- c. All members shall be obliged to support the Society's aims to the best of their ability, and to refrain from any activity that would be detrimental to the reputation and the purpose of the Society. The members shall adhere to the rules of the Society and observe the decisions made by the Executive Committee.

§ 6 SUBSCRIPTION

- a. The annual subscription shall be determined from time to time by the Executive Committee, and the Executive Committee shall in so determining make special provision for reduced subscription rates for members in instances of need or national problems.
- b. The annual subscription is due from the 1st January of the year following a Member's admission; from then on the new member shall also receive the Society's print journal and/or have access to the electronic issue of the journal.
- c. Thereafter each Member's subscriptions should be paid annually, by 1st May at the latest.

§ 7 TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP

a. Resignation:

- i A member shall cease to be a member if he gives written notice to the Secretary General of his resignation.
- ii A member whose subscription is more than one year in arrears shall be deemed to have resigned.

b. Expulsion:

The Executive Committee shall have power to expel a member when, in their opinion, it would not be in the interests of the Association for him to remain a member. A member shall not be expelled unless he is given 14 days written notice to attend a meeting of the Executive Committee and written details of the complaint made against him.

The member shall be given an opportunity to appear before the Executive Committee to answer complaints made against him, and shall not be expelled unless at least two thirds of the Executive Committee then present vote in favor of his expulsion.

§ 8 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The European Hip Society (EHS) shall have an Executive Committee and four standing committees:

the National Representatives Committee, the Scientific Committee, the Educational Committee and the Historical Committee.

- a. The Executive Committee shall consist of the following Honorary Officers, who shall all be Full Members of the Society: President, Past President, Vice-President (President Elect), Secretary General, and Treasurer.
- b. The Officers shall be proposed, seconded and elected by ballot at the Annual General Assembly. Committee Members shall remain in office until the expiry of their term, and shall retire at the Annual General Assembly following the expiry of his term of office. Any casual vacancy occurring by resignation or otherwise may be filled by the Committee, until the next General Assembly, where a new committee member can be elected. Retiring members of the Executive Committee shall be eligible for re-election. The term of office for each of the Officers shall be as follows:
 - i Two years for the President, Past President and Vice-President (President Elect);
 - ii Four years for the Secretary General and Treasurer.
- c. Executive Committee meetings shall be held not less than once a year and the quorum of that meeting shall be one half of the total membership of the Committee. The President and the Secretary General shall have discretion to call further meetings of the Executive Committee if they consider it to be in the interests of the Association.

The Secretary General shall give all the members of the Executive Committee not less than seven days written notice of a meeting. Decisions of the Executive Committee shall be made by a simple majority and in the event of equality of votes the President (or the acting chairman of that meeting) shall have a casting or additional vote. The Secretary General, or in his absence a member of the Executive Committee, shall take minutes.
- d. In addition to the members so elected, the Executive Committee may co-opt up to the maximum of 4 further members of the Association who shall serve until the next Annual General Assembly. Co-opted members are proposed by the ExCom and approved by the General Assembly. Co-opted members have no right to vote in the ExCom meetings. Co-opted members can be re-co-opted once. The ExCom can also invite the Editor of the journal Hip International to an ExCom meeting. However, this Editor will only have an advisory task.
- e. The Executive Committee may from time to time appoint such sub-committees as they may consider necessary and may delegate to them such of the powers and duties of the Committee as the Committee may determine. All sub-committees shall periodically report their proceedings to the Executive Committee and shall conduct their business in accordance with the directions of the Executive Committee.
- f. The Executive Committee shall be responsible for the management of the Association and shall have the sole right of appointing and determining the terms and conditions of service of employees of the Association. The Executive Committee shall have power to enter into contracts for the purposes of the Association on behalf of all the members of the Association. The Executive Committee is responsible for governance and authority and the presidential line. Executive Committee has the leading above all other committees.
- g. The members of the Executive Committee shall have an entitlement out of the assets

of the Association for all expenses and other liabilities properly incurred by them in the management of the affairs of the Association.

- h. Every full EHS member with the full right to vote has the full right to run for an official position in the Executive Committee and in the 4 committees and the journal when a post is available.
- i. No full member can hold at any given time more than 1 position in more than 1 committee in order to allow participation of all members, the only exception is that National Representatives can hold two positions.
- j. All four committees and journal positions including the positions in the ExCom will be officially advertised 2 months in advance of the General Assembly by the EHS. Candidates even in the case of a single candidacy must run for the election for at least 2 months so the GA is informed and elects them to the office by the majority vote.
- k. Governance and authority always comes from the ExCom and the Presidential line so the decisions by the 4 committees of EHS must be confirmed by ExCom and this leading role by ExCom is called Executive.

§ 9 NATIONAL REPRESENTATIVES COMMITTEE

Beside the Executive Committee, the National Representatives Committee shall be chaired by the President of the Society. The National Representatives shall be proposed by a country's National Hip Society or National Orthopaedic Society. Provided a country has more than ten Full Members in the European Hip Society, they may decide to elect their National Representative from among their specific group. The time of their mandate is four years with the possibility of re-election once. This Committee is consulted by the Executive Committee on any activity of the Society, however this Committee is advisory with no power of decision.

§ 10 PARTICULAR DUTIES OF THE INDIVIDUAL OFFICERS

The duties of the individual officers shall (inter alia) include the following:

- a. The President shall organize the Association's Congress to take place during his term of office, as well as the EHS symposia held at EFORT congresses.
- b. The Vice-President (President Elect) shall commence preparations for the subsequent meetings (EHS Congress, symposia), i.e. following those organized by the President.
- c. The President shall act as the official representative of the Association and shall be responsible for dealing with its normal affairs; the Secretary General shall assist the President in the organization of meetings.
- d. The President will act upon the will of the General Assembly.
- e. The Treasurer shall be responsible for the finances of the Association and shall collect membership subscription fees.
- f. The Secretary General shall be responsible for all records and documentation of the Association and supervise collection of the papers submitted at meetings and arrange for their distribution to all Members. The Executive Committee may delegate this task to a Scientific Committee. The Secretary General shall also be responsible for preparation of summaries of the proceedings of Congress activities as there are published in the Journal.

§ 11 ANNUAL GENERAL ASSEMBLY

- a. The Annual General Assembly of the Association shall be held each year no later than 31st December to transact the following business:
 - i To receive the President's official address and the Secretary General's report of the activities of the Association during the previous year;
 - ii To receive and consider the accounts of the Association for the previous year and the Auditors' Report on the Accounts and the Treasurer's Report as to the financial position of the Association;
 - iii To remove and elect two Auditors or confirm that they remain in office;
 - iv To elect the Officers and other members of the Executive Committee who are due for election;
 - v To decide on any resolution which may be duly submitted in accordance with Rule 11b.
- b. Nominations for the election of members to any office shall be made in writing by the proposer and seconder to the Secretary General not less than 28 days before the Annual General Assembly. Notice of any resolution proposed to be moved at the Annual General Assembly shall be given in writing to the Secretary General not less than 28 days before

the meeting.

- c. The date, time, place and venue of the Annual General Assembly shall be determined by the Executive Committee; in each year which an EHS Congress takes place the Annual General Meeting shall be held at the same place.

§ 12 SPECIAL GENERAL ASSEMBLY

A Special General Assembly may be called at any time by the Executive Committee and following a requisition in writing signed by not less than one tenth of the members to the Secretary General. The Secretary General shall then organize a General Assembly to be held within a reasonable period of time and shall dispatch a notice to convene the same not less than 28 days prior to the meeting, stating the purposes for which a meeting is required and the resolution proposed.

§ 13 PROCEDURE AT THE ANNUAL AND SPECIAL GENERAL ASSEMBLY

- a. The Secretary General shall, together with the meeting agenda, send a written invitation to attend an Annual or Special General Assembly to each member, either by fax or by e-mail (to the fax number or e-mail address notified to the Society), at least 28 days before the meeting.
- b. The quorum for General Assemblies shall consist of those full members attending the General Assembly, independent of the number of members present.
- c. The President or in his absence the Vice-President (President Elect) or in his absence a Full Member selected by the Executive Committee shall take the chair. Each Full Member present shall have one vote, and resolutions shall be passed by a simple majority of those present and entitled to vote. In the event of an equality of votes the Chairman of the Meeting shall have a casting or additional vote.
- d. The Secretary General or in his absence a member of the Executive Committee shall take minutes at Annual and Special General Assemblies.

§ 14 ALTERATION OF THE RULES

The Rules may be altered by a resolution at an Annual or Special General Assembly provided that the resolution is carried by a majority of at least two thirds of Full Members present at the General Assembly or by a two thirds majority of all Full Members in a postal ballot.

§ 15 BYELAWS

The Executive Committee shall have power to make, repeal and amend such byelaws as they may from time to time consider necessary for the well-being of the Association, which byelaws, repeals and amendments shall have effect until set aside by the Executive Committee or at a General Assembly.

§ 16 FINANCE

- a. All monies payable to the Association shall be deposited in a bank account in the name of the Association. Withdrawal from that account shall only be permissible when backed by a resolution of the Executive Committee or a General Assembly. The Treasurer shall have sole signatory authority unless the amount of money drawn from the account does not exceed 10,000 euros, in which case a counter-signature by any one of the President, Vice-President (President Elect) or Secretary General shall be required. Any monies not required for immediate use may be invested as the Executive Committee in their discretion think fit.
- b. The income and property of the Association shall be applied only in furtherance of the objects of the Association, and no part thereof shall be paid by way of bonus, dividend or profit to any members of the Association.
- c. The Executive Committee shall have power to offer a payment as remuneration and expenses to any officer, member or employee of the Association, and to any other persons for services rendered to the Association.
- d. The financial transactions of the Association shall be recorded by the Treasurer in such a manner as the Executive Committee think fit.
- e. Two Auditors shall be elected by an Annual General Assembly for a term of four years. Re-election shall be possible. None of the Auditors shall be a member of a Committee of the Association – except for the General Assembly – whose activities are being examined.

The Auditors shall be responsible for the continuous monitoring of the Association's business activities, as well as for auditing its financial management with regard to the correctness of accounting and the proper application of funds in accordance with the Association's constitution. The Executive Committee shall provide the Auditors with all necessary documents and information. The Auditors shall report the outcome of the audit to the Executive Committee.

§ 17 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

- a. The financial year shall correspond to the calendar year.
- b. The annual accounts shall be drawn up and presented to the President and the Secretary General within the first five months of the following year.

§ 18 BORROWING

The Executive Committee may borrow money on behalf of the Association for the purposes of the Association from time to time at their own discretion for the general upkeep of the Association. Credit periods of more than one year or borrowings for other purposes shall require the sanction of a General Assembly.

§ 19 COURT OF ARBITRATION

- a. All disputes arising within the Association shall be settled by an internal arbitral tribunal. It shall consist of three Full Members of the Association. Each party to the dispute shall appoint an arbitrator, the arbitrators shall then appoint a further member of the Society as the chairman. If the arbitrators are unable to agree on a chairman, the chairman shall be selected by lot.
- b. The arbitral tribunal shall decide by simple majority of votes and to the best of their knowledge and belief. Its decisions shall be binding and conclusive.

§ 20 DISSOLUTION

- a. A resolution to dissolve the Association shall only be possible by postal ballot and must be supported by a majority of at least two thirds of valid votes cast.
- b. The dissolution shall take effect from the final date given for receipt of postal votes, which shall be not less than 14 days from when the notice of the resolution was given to all members. The members of the Executive Committee shall be responsible for the winding up of the assets and liabilities of the Association.

§ 21 USE OF THE ASSOCIATION'S ASSETS IN CASE OF MEMBER WITHDRAWAL, DISSOLUTION OF THE ASSOCIATION OR LAPSE OF THE TAX-PRIVILEGED PURPOSE:

- a. On termination of membership or on dissolution of the Association members may not receive more than their paid-up capital shares and the fair market value of their contributions in kind, which shall be calculated according to the date of contribution.
- b. If the Association dissolves or the Association's previous tax-privileged purpose ceases to apply, the assets of the Association, inasmuch as they exceed the members' paid-in capital shares and the fair market value of the members' contributions in kind after the discharge of liabilities, must at any rate be used for non-profit purposes (public-benefit, charitable or religious purposes within the meaning of §§ 34 ff of the Austrian Federal Fiscal Code BAO).

To this end the remaining assets of the Association shall be passed to the European Federation of National Associations of Orthopaedics and Traumatology (EFORT), provided it meets the requirements for privileged tax treatment according to §§ 34 ff BAO, which has to be proved by producing an up-to-date confirmation issued by the competent fiscal authority.

In the event that EFORT does no longer exist at the time of liquidation resulting from the dissolution of the Association or lapse of the former tax-privileged purpose, or if it does no longer fulfil the required qualifications for privileged tax treatment within the meaning of §§ 34 ff BAO, or if the transfer of assets in accordance with the above provisions is not possible for other reasons, the remaining assets of the Association shall be dedicated to other non-profit purposes (public-benefit, charitable or religious purposes within the meaning of §§ 34 ff of the Austrian Federal Fiscal Code BAO). As far as practicable and permitted, they shall go to institutions pursuing the same or similar purposes as the Association.

§ 22 EHS Educational Committee (EduCom)

a. Structure:

- i.** The EduCom of EHS is composed by a maximum number of 10 full members of the Society (plus the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman).
- ii.** The membership has the duration of 4 years, each member can be re-elected only once, that means a maximum duration of eight years in the Committee.
- iii.** Open positions in the EduCom should be advertised to all members of the European Hip Society. After a selection procedure candidates are proposed by the EduCom and approved by the ExCom.
- iv.** The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman are elected by the GA upon proposal of the ExCom that receives the candidatures by the EduCom. The Vice-Chairman replaces the Chairman when he is not available to attend a meeting.
- v.** The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman mandates follow the rules of all the other members, their terms are 4 years and can be re-elected only once.
- vi.** The President, the President Elect and the Past-President are Ex-Officio members of the EduCom for the duration of their term.
- vii.** That means a maximum number of 15 (10 elected members plus the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman of the committee and the President, the President Elect and the Past-President as Ex-Officio members) people. Some other EHS members can be involved for sub-commissions. All sub-commissions have to report about their activities frequently to the EduCom and to fulfill their activities according to the instructions of the EduCom.

b. Finances:

- i.** The annual budget is fixed every 2 years by the ExCom. The Chairman is responsible for the proper use of the allocated resources, under the Treasurer's control.
The budget should cover the travelling and accommodation costs (according to the best economical rules) of the EduCom members and costs of organization of the EduCom meetings (no more than once a year out of the Congresses like EHS, EFORT, etc), participation to Educational events on behalf of EHS, costs of organization of combined meetings for the part of EHS. All the costs should be maintained as low as possible, looking for the cheaper solution, phone conferences should be preferred to meetings.

c. Tasks:

- i.** The tasks of the EduCom is to support the President and the ExCom in the fulfilling of our mission statement to become one of the most outstanding specialty societies by helping to distribute the knowledge about hip diseases and surgical procedures around the hip. It also helps the ExCom in the running of the EHS fellowship. Other relevant tasks are the promotion of the society by offering both selected programs or speakers to national orthopedic societies or local hip societies to spread the knowledge of hip related topics

within Europe. The EduCom is also responsible for participation in educational programs related to EFORT.

§ 23 EHS Scientific Committee (SciCom)

a. **Structure:**

- i.* The SciCom of EHS is composed by a maximum number of 10 full members of the Society (plus the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman).
- ii.* The membership has the duration of 4 years, each member can be re-elected only once that means a maximum duration of eight years in the Committee.
- iii.* Open positions in the SciCom should be advertised to all members of the European Hip Society. After a selection procedure candidates are proposed by the SciCom and approved by the ExCom.
- iv.* The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman are elected by the GA upon proposal of the ExCom that receives the candidatures by the SciCom. The Vice-Chairman replaces the Chairman when he is not available to attend a meeting.
- v.* The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman mandates follow the rules of all the other members, their terms are 4 years and can be re-elected only once.
- vi.* The President, the President Elect and the Past-President are Ex-Officio members of the SciCom for the duration of their term.
- vii.* That means a maximum number of 15 people. Some other EHS members can be involved for sub-commissions or selected studies/topics.

b. **Finances:**

- i.* The annual budget is fixed every 2 years by the ExCom. The Chairman is responsible for the proper use of the allocated resources, under the Treasurer control.
The budget should cover the travelling and accommodation costs (according to the best economical rules) of the SciCom members and costs of organization of the SciCom meetings (no more than once a year out of the Congresses like EHS, EFORT, etc), participation to Scientific events on behalf of EHS, costs of organization of combined meetings for the part of EHS. All the costs should be maintained as low as possible, looking for the cheaper solution, phone conferences should be preferred to meetings.

According to the allocated budget, scientific studies for publication can be covered, following clear details and justification of costs.

c. **Tasks:**

- i.* The main task of the SciCom is to support the President (who is responsible of the biannual EHS Congress) in the Scientific Program of our biannual Congress and of the EHS Sessions during EFORT, organize and/or support EFORT Arthroplasty day (hip part) and all the International Scientific events in which EHS is officially invited, in accordance with the President and the ExCom.

- ii. Second task is the development and the promotion of the huge European knowledge and experience in the hip field all over the world by the means of unbiased publications in peer review journals (Hip International as first option of course, but not only) of the best evidence and practice.
- iii. The third task is to coordinate and /or starting scientific studies to further evolve the best practice in hip

§ 24 EHS Historical Committee

Structure:

The Historical Committee of EHS is composed by a maximum number 5 members of the Society (including the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman). This committee has the role document the history of our society and thus will have the right to study EHS documents which are older than 5 years. The budget depends on the activity that are defined in agreement with ExCom.

ANNEX I

FOUNDER MEMBERS OF THE EUROPEAN HIP SOCIETY

Reginald ELSON was asked by the President (Michael FREEMAN) and the Secretary (Jacques DUPARC) of the Congress Board of the European Federation of Orthopaedics to work on the formation of a European Society for Surgery of the Hip.

The European Hip Society was founded in Hamburg on Saturday the 17th of October 1992. At their meeting, the Founder Members decided upon a Constitution.

AUSTRIA	Prof. R. BAUER
BELGIUM	Dr. J. LEWALLE
DENMARK	Dr. J.S. JENSEN
FINLAND	Prof. E.B. RISKÄ
FRANCE	Dr. H. OLIVIER
GERMANY	Dr. E. NIEDER
GREECE	Prof. E. DRETAKIS
IRISH REPUBLIC	Mr. G.C. FENELON
ITALY	Dr. L. SPECCHIA
NETHERLANDS	Dr. S. BULSTRA
NORWAY	Prof. P. BENUM

PORTUGAL

SPAIN

SWEDEN

TURKEY

UNITED KINGDOM

Dr. J.A. PROENCA

Dr. E. GARCIA-CIMBRELO

Dr. L. SANZEN SWITZERLAND

Prof. B.G. WEBER

Prof. I. CETIN

Mr. R. ELSON

ANNEX II

(1) HISTORY OF CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE EUROPEAN HIP SOCIETY

According to the decision of the General Assembly on the 10th October 2014

§ 1 b. Competent authority is modified as follows:

Regional Police Headquarters of Tyrol in Innsbruck, Austria (SVA 3 - Vereine, Landespolizeidirektion Tirol)

§ 3 a. is amended by:

vii *Publication editing*

§ 3 b. is amended by:

vii *Administration of assets (e.g. interest, other income upon investments, etc.)*

§ 4 c. i (Full Members); last sentence is modified as follows:

They shall have full voting rights at the General Assembly, and shall receive a free subscription of the Society's journal, choosing to receive either the printed version with electronic access, or electronic access only, depending on their choice of dues.

§ 4 c. ii (International Members); last sentence is modified as follows:

They shall receive a free subscription of the Society's journal - choosing to receive either the printed version with electronic access, or electronic access only, depending on their choice of dues - but they shall have no voting rights.

§ 4 c. vi (Companion Members); last sentence is modified as follows:

They shall have no voting rights, but they shall receive a free subscription of the Society's journal, choosing to receive either the printed version with electronic access, or electronic access only, depending on their choice of dues.

§ 4 d. is modified as follows:

Any person who wishes to become a Member must be proposed by one Full Member and seconded by another, be approved by their country's National Representative, and must submit a curriculum vitae together with an application in writing signed by himself and the proposer and seconder to the Secretary General. Election to Membership shall be upon recommendation by the Executive Committee (following approval by the National Representative and scrutiny of the two sponsorships and the curriculum vitae) or acceptance of an application for membership and approval of the application by a majority of Full Members attending at a General Assembly.

§ 10 is amended by:

The President shall follow the established presidential line and will act upon the will of the General Assembly.

§ 20 c. is deleted

((Any property remaining after the discharge of the assets and liabilities of the Association shall be given to the European Federation of National Associations Orthopaedics and Traumatology (EFORT) or, if this is not longer in existence, to another non-profit organisation with similar objects.))

§ 21 is newly added as follows:

**§ 21 USE OF THE ASSOCIATION'S ASSETS IN CASE OF MEMBER WITHDRAWAL,
DISSOLUTION OF THE ASSOCIATION OR LAPSE OF THE TAX-PRIVILEGED PURPOSE:**

- c. On termination of membership or on dissolution of the Association members may not receive more than their paid-up capital shares and the fair market value of their contributions in kind, which shall be calculated according to the date of contribution.*
- d. If the Association dissolves or the Association's previous tax-privileged purpose ceases to apply, the assets of the Association, inasmuch as they exceed the members' paid-in capital shares and the fair market value of the members' contributions in kind after the discharge of liabilities, must at any rate be used for non-profit purposes (public-benefit, charitable or religious purposes within the meaning of §§ 34 ff of the Austrian Federal Fiscal Code BAO).*

To this end the remaining assets of the Association shall be passed to the European Federation of National Associations of Orthopaedics and Traumatology (EFORT), provided it meets the requirements for privileged tax treatment according to §§ 34 ff BAO, which has to be proved by producing an up-to-date confirmation issued by the competent fiscal authority.

In the event that EFORT does no longer exist at the time of liquidation resulting from the dissolution of the Association or lapse of the former tax-privileged purpose, or if it does no longer fulfil the required qualifications for privileged tax treatment within the meaning of §§ 34 ff BAO, or if the transfer of assets in accordance with the above provisions is not possible for other reasons, the remaining assets of the Association shall be dedicated to other non-profit purposes (public-benefit, charitable or religious purposes within the meaning of §§ 34 ff of the Austrian Federal Fiscal Code BAO). As far as practicable and permitted, they shall go to institutions pursuing the same or similar purposes as the Association.